
 1 
APPROVED 2 

MINUTES OF THE MILFORD BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING 3 
June 28, 2021 4 

 5 
This meeting was conducted pursuant to the State of New Hampshire Emergency Order #12 pursuant to Executive Order 6 
2020-04.  As such, the meeting was conducted online and in person.   7 
 8 
PRESENT: Gary Daniels, Chairman    John Shannon, Town Administrator (Zoom) 9 

Chris Labonte, Vice Chairman     Tina Philbrick, Executive Assistant (Zoom) 10 
Laura Dudziak, Member  (EXCUSED)  Nate Addonizio, Videographer  11 

  Paul Dargie, Member      12 
David Freel, Member    13 

 14 
1.  CALL TO ORDER, BOARD OF SELECTMEN INTRODUCTIONS & PUBLIC SPEAKING INSTRUCTIONS:    15 
Chairman Daniels called the public meeting to order at 5:30 p.m., introduced Board members, and then led the audience in 16 
the Pledge of Allegiance.  Chairman Daniels indicated that those people in the audience who want to speak or add to the 17 
discussion should please use a microphone in order to be heard on the PEG Access live broadcast. 18 
 19 
Chairman Daniels welcomed members of the public accessing this meeting remotely. He intends to continue using zoom at 20 
the Board meetings because there is more participation using this tool.  21 
 22 
2. APPOINTMENTS – (Approximate times) 23 
5:30 p.m. –  Standard Veteran’s Tax Credit (2), Land Use Change Tax: Map 51 Lot 23-2, Late Filed Residences in 24 
Industrial or Commercial Zone (4), Supplemental Notice of Excavation: Map 50 Lot 4-4 and Map 42 Lot 1 and 25 
Property Abatement Applications for Denial (11) – Assessing Director Marti Noel.   26 
  27 
Standard Veteran’s Tax Credit (2) - Mr. Gagnon has had the Veteran’s Credit since 2015. He has recently changed resi-28 
dences within Milford.  The statute does allow for the transfer of the Veteran's credit to a new residence when the Veteran 29 
has moved within the same community. Chairman Daniels asked if Mr. Gagnon had applied for the Veteran’s credit on the 30 
previous residence.  Marti said yes.   31 
 32 
Selectman Dargie made a motion to approve Mr. Gagnon’s Veteran’s Tax Credit.  Seconded by Selectman  Labonte.  33 
All were in favor.  The motion passed 4/0.  34 
 35 
Mr. Green purchased a property from his parent in August of 2020 and has lived in that home for many years before the 36 
purchase.  In discussion, Marti explained to Mr. Green that a late-filed application may be approved under specific statutory 37 
reasons which include … "accident, mistake or misfortune…" Usually, the homeowner will have to wait until the following 38 
year if there isn't a substantial reason for a late filing.  Mr. Green submitted a letter explaining the reason for the late-filed 39 
application was that he was unaware of the Credit until after the deadline. Marti recommends denial, but it’s up to the 40 
Board.  41 
 42 
Selectman Dargie made a motion to approve Mr. Green’s Veteran’s Tax Credit. Seconded by Selectman Freel.   43 
 44 
Selectman Dargie wants to give Mr. Green the benefit of the doubt.  He never owned a home before this, and just learned 45 
about it.  Chairman Daniels agreed. Selectman Freel asked why Marti recommends denial.  Marti said she tells all veterans 46 
that apply late that they will have to wait until the following year, she recommends denial for consistency.    47 
 48 
Selectman Labonte asked how many applicants are told to try the following year if they are late in applying.  Marti said 49 
about 3 or 4 for this year.  They can request to come before the Board, which is what Mr. Green did.   50 
  51 
Selectman Dargie asked if the other 3 or 4 people were given the option to go before the Board.  Marti said no, she tells 52 
them the same thing she told Mr. Green, and just the fact that they didn't know doesn't qualify them for the exemption.  She 53 
doesn't present the option to go before the Board. If she did, they would never be able to set the veteran's credit. It would be 54 
difficult for the Tax Collector to include them after the tax bill.  55 
   56 
Selectman Freel asked if it was typical for first-time applicants to miss the boat.  Marti said this happens often, there could 57 
be multiple reasons for being late in applying.    They are not denied forever, just this year.  Selectman Freel said if we al-58 
low this, should we go back and allow the other 3 or 4 to also come before the Board.  Marti repeated that the stipulation in 59 
the statute is … “accident, mistake or misfortune…”, she doesn’t think “I didn’t know about it” qualifies.     60 
 Selectman Dargie said he changed his mind and will vote no to be consistent.  He feels that the applicants should know that 61 
coming to the Board of Selectman is an option.  Selectman Freel said you open a can of worms if you start allowing this for 62 



APPROVED MINUTES OF BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING – 6/28/2021 
 
 

 2 

everyone.  Marti said the question now becomes, “what is the cutoff date”. How long do we let late fillers file?  Selectman 63 
Dargie said until the tax rate is set in the Fall.  Selectman Freel said there shouldn’t be a cutoff date.  If we know that they 64 
are veterans we should send something to them telling them that they qualify for this, come in and fill out the paperwork.   65 
  66 
Selectman Labonte asked if we notify veterans. Marti said we don’t send out a letter to veterans because she doesn’t know 67 
who they are.  It does say on all tax bills that these credits can be applied for. Chairman Daniels said if someone has never 68 
done this before, they should cut them some slack the first time. Marti said the veteran only needs to apply once, it isn't an 69 
every-year thing.   70 
 71 
Selectman Dargie changed her mind again.  He will vote in favor of it.  He wants to notify the other 3 or 4 about this and 72 
allow them to apply.  Marti said they can only keep it open until September 1st when the MS1 is sent to the state. Marti said 73 
she has the other veteran's applications that were denied, she will bring them forward at the next meeting.   74 
 75 
Selectman Dargie made a motion to approve Mr. Gagnon’s Veteran’s Tax Credit.  Seconded by Selectman  Labonte.  76 
All were in favor.  The motion passed 4/0.  77 
 78 
Land Use Change Tax: Map 51 Lot 23-2 - This parcel has been disturbed for the construction of a new home.  Construc-79 
tion on land in Current Use requires the affected areas to be removed from Current Use and a Land Use Change Tax War-80 
rant be issued.  81 
 82 
Selectman Dargie made a motion to accept the Land Use Change Tax for Map 51 Lot 23-2.  Seconded by Selectman 83 
Labonte.  All were in favor.  The motion passed 4/0.  84 
 85 
Late Filed Residences in Industrial or Commercial Zone (4) – I have reviewed the applications and I recommend that 86 
the Board of Selectman approve the attached list of applicants for Residences in an Industrial or Commercial Zone for the 87 
tax year 2021. At the last meeting Chairman Daniels noticed that there were some missing applications, these are the miss-88 
ing applications. This is applied for every year.   89 
 90 
Selectman Dargie made a motion to accept the four Late Filed Residences in the Industrial or Commercial Zone.  91 
Seconded by Selectman Labonte.  All were in favor.  The motion passed 4/0. 92 
 93 
Supplemental Notice of Excavation: Map 50 Lot 4-4 and Map 42 Lot 1 – The warrants were approved in the last meet-94 
ing this is to clean up the paperwork. 95 
 96 
Selectman Dargie made a motion to accept the Supplemental Notice of Excavation: Map 50 Lot 4-4 and Map 42 Lot 97 
1.  Seconded by Selectman Labonte.  All were in favor.  The motion passed 4/0. 98 
 99 
Property Abatement Applications for Denial (11) – This is the last of the abatement applications.  She recommends that 100 
they be approved.  All property owners have been notified.  These property owners failed to provide evidence that their 101 
property values were too high. The deadline for response by the municipality to all abatements timely filed is July 1.  If no 102 
decision has been made, the abatement is to be considered to have been denied, and the Appellants may begin filing for 103 
appeal at the state level, either the BTLA or Superior Court.   104 
 105 
Selectman Dargie said they are required to provide an appraisal that states that the properties are too high. He asked Marti if 106 
they were looking at these in detail for the reassessment this year.  Marti said yes. Selectman Dargie asked if the owners 107 
came in with a rational for reducing the assessment, would Marti have compared it with the previous assessment or the up-108 
coming assessment.  Marti said they look at each year individually.  Abatements that have been filed are for April 2020. 109 
Selectman Dargie asked how the assessment was done.  Marti said it's coming along. Tables need to be updated for com-110 
mercial properties.  She wants to let anyone who gets letters to not use the prior year’s tax rate to calculate taxes for this 111 
year. If values go up, the tax rate typically goes down some.   This revaluation is to get the values closer to market value. 112 
 113 
Selectman Freel asked what these people are saying that their values should be.  Selectman Dargie said they didn’t provide 114 
what they think their values should be. Marti said the property owner can put what they think their value should be, but they 115 
have to provide documentation of that value.  Selectman Freel asked if any of these property owners have come forward in 116 
previous years for abatements.  Marti said yes, Abby Land did apply before and they are going before the Tax and Land 117 
Appeal Board soon.  They also applied in 2016 and their value was reduced, they are looking for additional reductions 118 



APPROVED MINUTES OF BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING – 6/28/2021 
 
 

 3 

when their values are increasing.  Chairman Daniels asked if they have an opportunity to challenge this again.  Marti said 119 
yes, every year.    120 
 121 
Selectman Dargie made a motion to deny the eleven Property Abatement Applications for Denial.  Seconded by Se-122 
lectman Freel.  All were in favor.  The motion passed 4/0. 123 
 124 
Selectman Labonte asked Marti what the PA28 form is.  Marti said that is a form that we get every year from the Depart-125 
ment of Revenue. They use it to send out questionnaires to all property owners to fill out and report any changes to their 126 
property. Milford has not used this since well before her time, and she’s been here for 13 years. There are maybe 6 commu-127 
nities in New Hampshire that use these forms.     128 
 129 
3. PUBLIC COMMENTS (regarding items that are not on the agenda)   130 
Mark Fougere, a Milford Resident, shared a complaint with the Board.  He filed a complaint on April 5th against Jason 131 
Johnson, MCC Base Director, relative to his activities in displaying a Vote No sign on the Milford Oval, given that he is a 132 
public employee and a resident of Mont Vernon.  It is his opinion that Mr. Johnson should no longer remain as Director of 133 
MACC Base. The complaint outlines that:  134 
a. As Director of MACC Base, it is one thing to advocate a position during public meetings and hearings; that is certainly 135 
within his duties. It is another to actively advocate against a Warrant Article that is supported by a supermajority of both the 136 
BOS and Budget Committee when you are not a resident of the community, but an employee. 137 
b. If not illegal, Mr. Johnson's actions are unethical and raises questions as to his ability to objectively oversee an agency 138 
that is 70% funded by Milford taxpayers. Do we want public employees who are not residents of the community activity 139 
trying to undermine the town voting process? If this action is left unchecked, similar activities from others are sure to fol-140 
low. 141 
c. Given Mr. Johnson's actions, questions can also be raised as to his activities with MACC Base subordinates. Did Mr. 142 
Johnson direct Milford residents to Vote No on 3? Did Mr. Johnson advocate put up lawn signs during working hours? 143 
What other advocacy actions took place behind the locked doors of MACC Base? 144 
d. When a Milford Police Officer contacted MACC Base relative to the truck (with sign) that had been parked on the Oval 145 
too long, he soon heard from an "off duty" Mr. Johnson over the MACC Base radio system asking about the truck. It is ob-146 
vious MACC Base personal reached out to Mr. Johnson after the police officer radioed in. Why was an off-duty Mr. John-147 
son reaching out to a Milford Police officer over the MACC Base radio system? Soon after this exchange, Mr. Johnson sent 148 
a text to the Officer threatening legal action showing concern over his sign. Mr. Johnson was then observed moving the 149 
truck to a new location and attempted to hide his dubious actions by covering his appearance with a hoodie. These activities 150 
demonstrate he is not fit to lead this Agency. 151 
d. As Director of a regional communication agency, such a position must remain above politics. Mr. Johnson's actions raise 152 
serious concerns as to his clear bias against Milford and its first responders who protect the health and safety of our resi-153 
dents. 154 
 155 
Mark strongly urges that the Milford Board of Selectmen take a vote of no confidence against Mr. Johnson and demand his 156 
resignation. It's clear that Mr. Johnson can no longer oversee such a critical agency in an honest and dignified manner. 157 
 158 
A letter came from the Attorney General’s Office on June 7th, filed by Kevin Kleber who happens to be Jason Johnson’s 159 
roommate. He finds it highly unlikely Mr. Kleber filed that complaint against our Fire Chief, Police Chief, and EMS Direc-160 
tor.   161 
 162 
Chairman Daniels said since this has been filed with the AG’s office we will take it under consideration until we have heard 163 
from that office.    164 
 165 
Paul Bagley, a Milford resident, thanked the Board for continuing the zoom meetings as many can't attend in person.  He 166 
would also like to wish Administrator Shannon a speedy recovery from his accident. As far as the Attorney General's letter 167 
from June 7th, he was one of the people who took issue with the subject.  The decision’s been made and the Board is under 168 
a mandate for a cease and desist for the electioneering behavior and a policy and procedure needs to be in place by next 169 
Wednesday. Everything also needs to be removed from all town’s social media pages and employees need to be educated 170 
on such policy.  Nothing has been done yet. 171 
 172 
Selectman Labonte said he was going to bring this up later.  He also passed out a document, not included in the Boards 173 
packets. He received a letter from the Town Administrator that he thought this should have gone to the Board.  He also 174 



APPROVED MINUTES OF BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING – 6/28/2021 
 
 

 4 

doesn’t think some of the information in the letter, to the AG’s office is accurate.  He mentioned the social media policy.  175 
He would like to know the process of violating a policy.  Is it appropriate to use social media for unlawful activities?   176 
 177 
Chairman Daniels said they would have to discontinue all communication with the town regarding any elections, any avo-178 
cation with any political positions, Selectman Labonte interrupted and said we can't use social media for illegal activities.  179 
Chairman Daniels said what they are talking about is putting a vote of yes on warrant articles on the website or town's face-180 
book pages. He understood that this information was taken down.  Going forward, unless the law is changed, this stops us 181 
from putting the voters guide on the town's website, the law is flawed.  He's spoken to the Secretary of State about this and 182 
he agrees.  You shouldn't be putting things like vote yes on certain warrant articles, but when you are trying to communi-183 
cate with the town about certain things that we are doing so that they can have a heads up, and go to the polls with infor-184 
mation to use for voting, he doesn't think the law intended for us to not be able to do that.  It will take a change in statute to 185 
do it.  It prohibits the use of town equipment for advocating for political positions.  186 
 187 
Selectman Labonte reads the statute differently. Elected officials are allowed to do this. Chairman Daniels repeated, it pro-188 
hibits the use of town equipment for advocating for political position. Selectman Labonte asked at what point does this type 189 
of information goes to the whole Board.  It only went to the Chair.  Should it go to all Board members in the future?  190 
Chairman Daniels said yes.  Selectman Labonte asked if the Board needs to take action on this.  Chairman Daniels said yes.   191 
 192 
Administrator Shannon said a powerpoint was developed for training purposes.  This was discussed with the AG's office 193 
and they liked the idea.  Chief Viola helped to develop it.  It would have been completed last week, and you will all be cop-194 
ied on the response.  The AG’s office said they would like a copy of this along with a copy of our social media policy and 195 
this will be done no later than Wednesday. This will meet our obligations in the letter.  Our Town Counsel agreed that this 196 
will satisfy everything.      197 
 198 
Selectman Labonte said there is still one post that says yes on warrant article 3 from February of 2019.  Administrator 199 
Shannon said they will take care of it.  Chief Viola said they did go through the past two years and obviously, they missed 200 
one. Before this all came out, this Board agreed, 4/1 that we could do this.  This has been going on for years in this town 201 
and we just found we couldn’t do this.   202 
  203 
4.  DECISIONS – Selectman Dargie made a motion to accept the consent calendar.  Seconded by Selectman Labonte. 204 
All were in favor.  The motion passed 4/0.                                                                                                                                                                                                                       205 

a) CONSENT CALENDAR  206 
1)  Request Approval to NOT USE the PA-28 Form for Assessing in 2022.    207 
2)  Approval of Two (2) Yield Tax Levy Forms: Map 38 Lots 10 and 10-1 and Map 41 Lot 40-2C.   208 
3)  Approval of Recommendations for Appointment of Deputy Forest Fire Warden(s) and  Issuing Agent for the Mil-209 

ford Fire Department 210 
5. OTHER DECISIONS  211 

1) N/A   212 
 213 
5. TOWN STATUS REPORT – Town Administrator, John Shannon  214 
1)   Town Fireworks - 215 
The Town fireworks to celebrate Independence Day will take place on Friday, July 2nd at Keyes Field. Any questions or 216 
concerns can be directed to the Town Administrator's Office or the Recreation Department. 217 
 218 
6.  DISCUSSIONS 219 
1)  Communications – Captain Frye said they worked on the IMA at the last BOG meeting.  There was a surplus of 220 
$168,417 of the total surplus at MACC Base this year.  They did about $55,000 in upgrades.  There is a balance of 221 
$113,417 and of that; approximately $86,000 belongs to Milford, Mont Vernon gets $12,000 and Wilton gets $19,000.  We 222 
need to decide what to do with the money.  There are currently no plans to spend the surplus money at MACC Base.  Wil-223 
ton has their meeting tonight.  We need to know by June 30th.   224 
 225 
Selectman Dargie asked if there was money somewhere that can be used in case of an emergency this year.  Captain Frye 226 
said yes, $40,000.  Selectman Freel asked if the money has to go back into the general fund if it’s returned to Milford.  Se-227 
lectman Dargie said yes.  Selectman Freel asked if it's kept at MACC Base could they use it for the infrastructure of Mil-228 
ford.  Captain Frye said no, it goes into joint MACC Base equipment.  He said it could go towards our current problem like 229 



APPROVED MINUTES OF BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING – 6/28/2021 
 
 

 5 

securing Crown Castle.  It's money that the taxpayers already sent out for communications.  He doesn't see a problem giv-230 
ing it back.  He doesn't know what Wilton or Mont Vernon is going to do.   231 
 232 
Selectman Labonte asked if all three towns were willing to leave their money with MACC Base could they go forward and 233 
continue with Crown Castle.  Captain Frye said not with that small amount.  They are trying to figure out the cost now.  234 
Just putting antennas up there won’t fix the problem we need equipment that matches what we currently have.  Selectman 235 
Labonte asked if anyone received any information from 2Way as far as the equipment list.  Captain Frye said they will be 236 
coming in at the next Board meeting in a non-public meeting.  237 
 238 
Selectman Freel clarified that if the money comes back it will be placed in the general fund and used to set the tax rate for 239 
next year or, can it be used for something else, or can it be placed into an account for use of communications.  Selectman 240 
Dargie said the two options are to leave it at MACC Base and the BOG has control over that money and they can spend it 241 
however they want to, or put it in the general fund as misc. revenue and it's used to reduce the taxes. You can't put it in a 242 
special fund and allocate it for anything.   243 
 244 
Selectman Freel said if Wilton or Mont Vernon takes their money out, there isn’t any reason to keep ours in there.  Chair-245 
man Daniels asked if this was anticipated, or non-anticipated revenu.  Selectman Dargie said it is anticipated.  Paul Calabria 246 
said we kept $5,000 in the line item for surplus.  In 2019 they had $144,000 returned and in 2020, $76,000 was returned.  247 
 248 
Selectman Labonte asked if the BOG feels that there are upgrades that can be done to benefit the emergency services if all 249 
three towns are willing to keep their money at MACC Base.  Captain Frye said not at $113,000.  Selectman Labonte asked 250 
if it can be carried over to the next year. Captain Frye said in 2019 there was almost $200,000 left in there with no explana-251 
tion so we could put money in there with an explanation of why it was there.  It’s too bad we can’t use it to help us out on 252 
Crown Castle with the plan that 2Way is putting together.   253 
 254 
Captain Frye said the town needs to decide what we want to do.  Right now we don’t have an out with MACC Base if there 255 
is a collapse.  Selectman Labonte asked if there was a ballpark number of what it would cost for MACC Base to put an an-256 
tenna site on Crown Castle?  Captain Frye said no.  Selectman Freel asked what the $55,000 in upgrades were for.  Captain 257 
Frye said CAD upgrades, maintenance on towers, and A/C on the roof, but nothing as far as communication.  Selectman 258 
Freel said what would be the minimal amount to make any kind of change to make it better.  Captain Frye said around 259 
$500,000.  These are just estimates. Selectman Freel asked if the other towns are on board with maybe giving $200,000 to 260 
go towards that.  Captain Frye said no, they won’t use their money contributing to our fix.  Selectman Freel asked about 261 
consoles.  Captain Frye said they are around $100,000 to $200,000 each. We have two.  They are still working but are at the 262 
end of their life span.     263 
 264 
 Selectman Labonte said we already contracted to get a license on Crown Castle.  Captain Frye said yes to get our site li-265 
cense. Selectman Labonte asked why we didn't go through MACC Base.  Captain Frye said because it will be supporting 266 
Milford and all of our problems.  The other towns can benefit from the site tower if they put their equipment on the tower.   267 
 268 
Katherine Kokko, a Milford resident, said with the history of MACC Base, Milford has repeatedly required that this money 269 
come back to the town.  She's appalled at the underinvestment that we have put into the infrastructure of MACC Base. 270 
There is an interest in Milford doing its own thing.  Money has gone back to the other towns as well.  A comment was 271 
made by Captain Frye at the last meeting was that this board made it clear that they expected this money to come back to 272 
them. She doesn't understand why the taxpayers wouldn't be pleased with taking $100,000 off a potential fix if there were 273 
things that could be done with that money. Historically this town has decided that they want to take their money back which 274 
is part of the infrastructure problem. Captain Frye said it could also be Mont Vernon and Wilton taking their money back 275 
and us leaving ours in there. Katherine said it’s largely Milford doing that and the other towns following.  Captain Frye said 276 
Wilton is making their decision tonight.   277 
 278 
Selectman Freel said if the money is left in MACC Base can the BOG use it for anything.  Captain Frye said yes.  Select-279 
man Freel asked if we could say no if we didn’t like where they want to put the money.  Captain Frye yes.  Selectman La-280 
bonte said if we went through MACC Base for the license for Crown Castle we would have only had to pay 71% of $3,000.  281 
Selectman Freel asked who applied for the license.  Captain Frye said we did.  Selectman Labonte said it was never brought 282 
up at MACC Base. 283 
 284 
Selectman Dargie thinks we should leave the $80,000 in there for now.  Because it’s anticipated revenue, you can’t re-285 
appropriate it. Selectman Labonte said if you leave it in there, it may be able to be used if there becomes a remedy to help 286 



APPROVED MINUTES OF BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING – 6/28/2021 
 
 

 6 

MACC Base tomorrow and you won't have to wait for the March vote.  Selectman Dargie said he doesn't have a problem 287 
with MACC Base having a pot of money available for emergencies.  Selectman Freel asked if we get the money back if we 288 
were to pull out of MACC Base.  Captain Frye said we carry over $25,000 per year.  If we pulled out of MACC Base it's 289 
written in the IMA that it's surplus and they would get to keep it.      290 
 291 
Selectman Freel suggests that we never have any more than $50,000 in MACC Base and everything else come back to the 292 
town. There was more discussion about what they would do if they kept a certain amount in MACC Base and what it could 293 
be used for if they had different amounts in there. At this point, they don't know what they need to fix the problem. 294 
 295 
Chairman Daniels said we don’t know how the IMA is going to change.  They didn't accept the amendment that Selectmen 296 
Freel put in so that if a town leaves, you get your surplus back.  Selectman Freel said that the IMA line was only to cover 297 
the money for that current year, not for savings sitting in an account. We already budgeted for the year and we leave 6 298 
months early, we should get the remainng money back.  Selectman Labonte said you don't leave mid-year, you leave at the 299 
end of the year.  Chairman Daniels said the town has no vote on the following year's budget and you won't be able to de-300 
termine how the surplus is spent.   The BOG needs to have something in writing on who is supposed to take care of the 301 
infrastructure, us or MACC Base.   302 
 303 
Selectman Dargie is still in favor of the CTA's report, having a Milford-owned dispatch and having the other towns as cus-304 
tomers if they chose to do that.  If there is money to be spent to upgrade MACC Base we need to do it in a way so that it 305 
comes to us when we leave.  Selectman Freel said that would leave MACC Base without equipment wouldn’t work.  Se-306 
lectman Dargie said if we need to build a tower, Milford should do it on their own and let MACC Base use it.  Selectman 307 
Freel agrees. Selectman Dargie repeated that he’s okay with leaving the money at MACC Base for this year.  Chairman 308 
Daniels said he would be willing to do that with the stipulation that before any of it gets spent, it comes back to this Board 309 
to decide if we want to spend it on that first.  We have the two votes to stop it from being spent on something that doesn’t 310 
benefit us.   311 
 312 
Selectman Freel asked what Chairman Daniels's thoughts were on repeating this same talk next year.  Selectman Labonte 313 
said they may have answers by then because we need to have a new IMA by the end of this year.  Selectman Freel said let's 314 
see where the other towns are going with this.  Selectman Labonte assumes that if we leave our money in and the other 315 
towns take theirs out if something needs to be upgraded, the other towns would have the opportunity to add their money 316 
back in.  317 
 318 
Selectman Freel said if we decide to leave the money in there we are saying we are supporting MACC Base and that's it.  319 
Other than that, there is no reason to leave the money in there.  Chairman Daniels changed his mind.  If we don't have a 320 
direction in where we are going, let's pull the money back.  Selectman Labonte wants to leave it in there, it does more for 321 
the first responders now than waiting.  If there is something that comes up, we will have the money in there. There was 322 
more talk about money in the budget and surplus.      323 
 324 
Selectman Freel made a motion to allocate the surplus funds from MACC Base back into the general fund. Second-325 
ed by Chairman Daniels. 326 
 327 
Selectman Labonte asked what is the advantage of doing that instead of just leaving it in there.  Selectman Freel said he 328 
knows in another 2 to 3 months there is still a surplus and we will be sitting at this table in another 12 months hearing about 329 
this again and we we will be at $160,000.  Selectman Labonte said then you are not willing to do upgrades since we don't 330 
budget for upgrades and just use the surplus.  Selectman Freel asked if there will be a surplus this coming year.  Captain 331 
Frye said it's early, but there will be.  Selectman Labonte asked if any major upgrades can be done at MACC Base for 332 
$80,000.  Captain Frye said no.  Selectman Freel asked if they could do some for $160,000.  Captain Frye said yes, but we 333 
would have to wait another year.  It would have to stay in there for several years to build up money.  Do we have that luxu-334 
ry to sit around and wait at $80,000 a year for upgrades? If this didn’t have to go into the general fund, he would recom-335 
mend that we put it in an account that goes directly for communications to fix and address our current problem.  336 
 337 
Selectman Labonte said if we put it into MACC Base this year and next, we will have $160,000.  The voters have said no 338 
for 3 years in a row.  We could put a warrant article out again next year and it may not pass, at least we have $160,000 sit-339 
ting there.  Selectman Freel said he isn’t doing this because he wants one or the other; he's doing it because he feels that the 340 
money needs to go back to the taxpayers because he doesn't see it helping while sitting in an account doing nothing.  If 341 
MACC Base was a business, it would have been closed years ago.  If they really needed consoles and equipment they could 342 
let us know what they need, and how much they needed from each town to get their equipment.  We can then go to the tax-343 



APPROVED MINUTES OF BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING – 6/28/2021 
 
 

 7 

payers and tell them, this is what we need to fix the system, no one is doing that. We are leaving money in there to do noth-344 
ing because no one will come to the table and tell us what we need to do.     345 
 346 
Selectman Labonte said Selectman Freel keeps saying that MACC should come to us, we are 71% of MACC, and we can 347 
propose our things.  Selectman Freel said someone is running MACC Base and that someone should be telling us what we 348 
need for equipment to make it work.  Selectman Labonte agrees but it works the same way our town works.  Our Town 349 
Administrator works at the direction of the Board which is the same way the Director of MACC works with the BOG. He 350 
asked Captain Frye if the Director of MACC been given the direction to fix the problem in the last 5 years.  Captain Frye 351 
said yes, and but he's not come to the Board with a fixed price, it's always estimated.  With that, the question comes back, is 352 
it a system or center for calls.  353 
 354 
Selectman Labonte referenced a letter sent in April as far as cost, they were also estimates, the same as what Director John-355 
son sent.  Captain Frye said he answered Selectman Labonte questions which are always repeaters, repeaters, repeaters.   He 356 
got the quote for the repeaters.  That was expensive.  He spoke to 2 Way and who suggested securing Crown Castle and 357 
doing this the way we were going to do it with CTA but on a lower down level scale so we could get it through to the tax-358 
payers.  Unfortunately, we will most likely do what happened 4 years ago when Selectman Labonte was on the budget 359 
committee and we presented the $1,600,000 for a Milford fix and that got voted down to an $85,000 study.  We have a sur-360 
plus and we don’t know what the other towns are doing with their surplus.  We argue about everything and nothing gets 361 
done.  That’s the problem with MACC Base.  If you want to keep the money there then do so, but he doesn’t see them 362 
spending the money for several years.  The prices keep going up every year. We have a problem in Milford.  The $80,000 363 
can't do anything other than go into the general fund.  It was a 4/1 vote to put $700,000 into the warrant article.  He doesn’t 364 
know what it takes to remove money from the general fund but we should be doing whatever it takes to fix our serious 365 
problem now.  If MACC Base falls apart, we don’t have any infrastructure of our own to do anything with.    366 
 367 
Chairman Daniels asked Paul Calabria, Finance Director, if there were provisions where that money could go back into a 368 
dedicated fund for communications instead of the general fund.  Paul said no unless it was acted on at the town meeting.  369 
He will check.  Selectman Freel can't believe that the leftover money can't be used to fix communications as a whole.  370 
Chairman Daniels said it could if went before the voters saying that any surplus coming back can be used for communica-371 
tions.   372 
        373 
They took a vote on the motion and it failed 2/2 with Selectman Dargie and Selectman Labonte opposed. 374 
 375 
Selectman Labonte made a motion to keep the money at MACC Base as long as Milford's Board of Selectman had 376 
said in how it would be spent.  377 
 378 
Selectman Freel asked if they left $20,000 in and took $60,000 out, would they approve that.  Selectman Labonte said no, 379 
we need everything in that we can get to do the now fix.  Captain Frye said that would have to be spent on the MACC Base 380 
fix, not the Milford fix.  Selectman Labonte said he heard from heads of emergency services that they don’t care who heads 381 
this, they just want to know if they hit the button, it works.  Captain Frye said that’s true, and it doesn’t work.  We are send-382 
ing two guys to every call now because we are not sure if the radios are going to work.   Officer safety is an issue and the 383 
guys are going to take care of themselves.   384 
 385 
Selectman Freel asked why in the last 2 or 3 years have we just opted to take our money back.  Why didn’t we leave any in?  386 
Selectman Labonte said he guesses that it's been in the mindset to have a town-owned system.  Selectman Freel asked Se-387 
lectman Dargie that if next year we are just sitting here what would his vote be on taking $140,000 out and leaving $20,000 388 
at MACC Base.  Selectman Dargie said it depends.  He’s hoping to do another warrant article 3.  He fully supports the CTA 389 
report. Selectman Freel said if that happens, do we get our money back.  Captain Frye said the way the current IMA is writ-390 
ten, no.   391 
 392 
Katherine Kokko asked Captain Frye how he comes up with no as getting the money back next year.  At last week's MACC 393 
Base meeting they talked about changing the language to address if someone were to leave. Captain Frye said the surplus is 394 
for the prior year, we would forfeit the $80,000.  395 
 396 
Selectman Freel said a couple of years ago we got a big surplus back that no one knew about and we are arguing about this 397 
$80,000 and leaving it in MACC Base.  We have millions in the fund balance, if we need something we can get it.  Select-398 
man Labonte said we just don’t take money out of the fund balance.  Selectman Freel said if there is an emergency they 399 
might.        400 



APPROVED MINUTES OF BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING – 6/28/2021 
 
 

 8 

Selectman Labonte repeated his motion to keep the money at MACC Base as long as Milford’s Board of Selectman 401 
had say in how it would be spent. Captain Frye said according to the IMA we don’t have to come back to this Board.   402 
 403 
Selectman Dargie said he wouldn’t second Selectman Labonte's motion. No one seconded Selectman Labonte’s motion and 404 
therefore the motion failed. Selectman Dargie would like to reconsider the previous motion.  Chairman Daniels said there 405 
is a motion to reconsider the previous motion that resulted in a 2/2 tie and failed.  Seconded by Selectman Freel.    406 
 407 
Selectman Labonte made a motion to table the discussion.  There was no second and the motion failed.  408 
 409 
The motion to reconsider the previous motion passed 3/1 with Selectman Labonte opposed.  410 
 411 
Selectman Freel made a motion to allocate the surplus funds from MACC Base back into the general fund. Second-412 
ed by Chairman Daniels. The motion passed 3/1 with Selectman Labonte opposed.   413 
 414 
Selectman Dargie said he's still on the fence but if there is a need to do something, they can always come up with the mon-415 
ey.  It’s unlikely that $80,000 will accomplish a lot.  He’s in favor of a real fix.  Selectman Labonte repeated that having 416 
$80,000 available at MACC Base if there was something that comes up would still be good.  Nothing has been put forward 417 
in the past.    418 
 419 
Selectman Labonte asked where the $3,000 for the license on Crown Tower came from.  Administrator Shannon said he 420 
will get an answer.  Chief Viola said he doesn’t think it came out of his budget.   421 
  422 
7.  PUBLIC COMMENTS. (Regarding items that are not on the agenda)     423 
 424 
Katherine Kokko followed up on Selectman Labonte’s proposed process for investigating radio issues.  No action was tak-425 
en on this at the last board meeting.   426 
 427 
Milford does not have a structured process in place to investigate radio issues. Communications issues are written up and 428 
emailed in by the first responders that experience them.  Those emails are collated and sent to the Board of Selectmen, but 429 
no additional steps are taken.   There is also no distinction made between identified issues that are true system failures, and 430 
those that are simply an inability to do something that the system wasn’t designed to do in the first place.  This “everything 431 
is a failure” approach distorts the already complicated discussion of Milford’s communications problems.   432 
 433 
In her discussions with other dispatches, she asked how they deal with localized radio issues as we have experienced here. 434 
All of them have responded that they investigate, replicate, pinpoint,  then try to mitigate the issue.  During our discussion 435 
at the last Board of Selectman meeting, Mr. Bartlett also confirmed that to understand an issue, it must be replicated.  Se-436 
lectman Labonte’s proposed process begins to get to this need. 437 
 438 
Most importantly, when there is an issue in a locale – that locale brings the issue to their dispatch for investigation.  The 439 
locale in question, and the dispatch, work together to do something about it.  But the process starts with the one who has 440 
experienced the radio issue.  When she asked why we aren’t doing this in Milford, she has been given the excuse that  441 
"MACC Base should know" about these issues – But MACC Base does not manage Milford's radios, and has not been 442 
asked by Milford to support any kind of coordinated investigative process or solution.  443 
 444 
It is Milford's responsibility to fully understand our problems and then escalate to MACC Base when the problem is defini-445 
tively identified as a potential system issue under MACC's jurisdiction.     446 
 447 
Finally, when asked in a prior meeting what steps were being taken to address radio issues in town, a representative of the 448 
Police Department stated that “this is why we proposed the warrant article.”   449 
 450 
All of this background is concerning.  The approach being taken by Milford today does not lend itself to problem-solving 451 
and is not protecting lives. A warrant article with a long lead time is not a mitigation strategy.  Without a policy and a pro-452 
cess for logging, categorizing, investigating, replicating, and escalating issues, problems will not get addressed – it doesn't 453 
matter what kind of organization we are talking about – public or private.  And it abdicates responsibility completely to say 454 
"we assume they know about the problems," rather than attempting to coordinate a response with MACC Base.   455 
 456 



APPROVED MINUTES OF BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING – 6/28/2021 
 
 

 9 

The BOS should be aggressively pursuing ALL options to mitigate our localized radio issues.  This includes having a struc-457 
tured problem-solving process in place, not just waiting for a new warrant article. This is a concrete step that can be taken 458 
by our town to protect our first responders.  It is also relevant to taxpayers who want to see that our elected officials are 459 
investigating ALL relevant options. 460 
 461 
She repeated, what action will the BOS be taking on Selectman Labonte's proposed process for investigating radio prob-462 
lems in Milford?   463 
 464 
Bobby Jones, the AFSME representative for the Milford Police Department, said he hasn’t spoken to any other dispatch 465 
center but he does have 30 years of police, law enforcement, dispatch experience with the last 8 years being a dispatch su-466 
pervisor of a much larger communications center than MACC Base.  It isn’t just Milford PD that has the owners tracking 467 
this down, it's MACC Base that has the owners tracking this down because they are the dispatch center.  Their job is to 468 
transmit and receive.  If they are constantly saying to the officers on the road that “they can’t hear or understand them”,  469 
then why isn’t MACC Base trying to mitigate and figure out what the problem is, not just Milford PD.   470 
 471 
Katherine Kokko said she didn't say that MACC Base doesn't have any responsibility, she is saying that it begins with the 472 
town identifying the radio issues that we have and then escalating them as needed.   473 
 474 
8.  SELECTMEN’S REPORTS/DISCUSSIONS  475 
Selectman Labonte said Granite Town Media figured out the sound in the Board room, he doesn’t know what is happening 476 
tonight. 477 
 478 
FROM PROJECTS, SPECIAL BOARDS, COMMISSIONS & COMMITTEES 479 

a. OTHER ITEMS (that are not on the agenda)   480 
Selectman Dargie said the Transfer Station doesn’t support volunteers anymore.  There used to be court-appointed volun-481 
teers and they may have stopped it due to COVID.  Welfare also needs people to help out.  He would like to have this re-482 
started.  Administrator Shannon will speak to Public Works about it.  483 
 484 
9. APPROVAL OF FINAL MINUTES - Selectman Dargie moved to approve the minutes of June 14, 2021, as 485 
amended.  Seconded by Chairman Daniels. All were in favor. The motion passed 4/0.   486 
 487 
10. INFORMATION ITEMS REQUIRING NO DECISIONS.  488 
 1. N/A 489 
11.  NOTICES.  Notices were read.  490 
12. NON-PUBLIC SESSION a motion made by Selectman Dargie to enter into a non-public session for in accord-491 
ance with (RSA 91-A:3, II(e)) Legal. Seconded by Selectmen Labonte.  A roll call vote was taken with Selectman 492 
Dargie yes, Selectman Labonte yes, Selectman Freel yes, and Chairman Daniels yes. All were in favor.  The motion 493 
passed 4/0.   494 
 495 
In non-public, the Board made no decisions.   496 
 497 
13. ADJOURNMENT: Selectman Dargie moved to adjourn at 8:15 pm. Seconded by Selectman Freel. A roll call 498 
vote was taken with Selectman Dargie yes, Selectman Labonte yes, Selectman Freel yes, and Chairman Daniels yes.  499 
All were in favor.  The motion passed 4/0.    500 
 501 
 502 
__________________________  __________________________ 503 
Gary Daniels, Chairman   Paul Dargie, Member 504 
 505 
  506 
_________________________  __________________________  507 
Chris Labonte, Vice-Chairman  David Freel, Member   508 
 509 
 510 
_________________________  511 
Laura Dudziak, Member   512 






































	APPROVED
	MINUTES OF THE MILFORD BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING
	June 28, 2021
	PRESENT: Gary Daniels, Chairman    John Shannon, Town Administrator (Zoom)
	Chris Labonte, Vice Chairman     Tina Philbrick, Executive Assistant (Zoom)
	Laura Dudziak, Member  (EXCUSED)  Nate Addonizio, Videographer
	Paul Dargie, Member
	David Freel, Member
	_________________________
	Laura Dudziak, Member

